ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Anderson County

Alexander S. Macaulay, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

DEC 03 2015

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND
TREATMENT OF
DEWEY CHADWICK,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002139

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the court erred by admitting irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial evidence that Appellant allegedly admitted he had sex with animals since this testimony was merely used to inflame the jury and likely led the jury to render a decision on an improper basis?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 12, 2013, Nicole T. Wetherton, an attorney with the South Carolina Office of Attorney General, filed a petition pursuant to the Sexually Violent Predator Act (SVPA) alleging that Appellant was a sexually violent predator. R. 300-305. The trial commenced on October 6, 2014 before the Honorable Alexander S. Macaulay, and a jury. Nichole Wetherton represented the state, and Hugh Welborn represented Appellant. R. 1.

On October 7, 2014, the jury found Appellant was a sexually violent predator under the SVPA. R. 275, l. 24 – 276, l. 23; R. 369. Judge Macaulay ordered Appellant be committed to the Department of Mental Health for long-term control, care, and treatment. R. 281, l. 20 – 282, l. 5; R. 370.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The court erred by admitting irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial evidence that Appellant allegedly admitted he had sex with animals since this testimony was merely used to inflame the jury and likely led the jury to render a decision on an improper basis.

Relevant Facts

Appellant, who was sixty-six years old at the time of trial, was convicted of lewd act upon a child on March 3, 1987, two additional counts of lewd act upon a child on September 13, 2005, and criminal solicitation of a minor on October 11, 2012. R. 283-299; See R. 155, ll. 9-11. Thus, it was undisputed that Appellant had been convicted of a sexually violent offense as defined by the SVPA.¹ He was sentenced to five years imprisonment suspended upon the service of five years' probation for the 1987 conviction, ten years imprisonment suspended upon the service of eighty-nine days time-served and five years' probation for the 2005 convictions, and three years imprisonment for the 2012 conviction. R. 283-299.

Over objection, the state's expert, Dr. Ana Gomez, testified about the allegations surrounding Appellant's previous convictions as well as uncharged conduct Appellant allegedly admitted to during his evaluation. R. 97, l. 4 – 104, l. 21; R. 108, l. 3 – 109, l. 18. Part of this uncharged conduct was Appellant's alleged admission that he engaged in sexual acts with numerous animals. According to Gomez, Appellant allegedly said he had had sex with five or six cows, twenty-five or thirty dogs, and a goat over the period of several years. R. 110, ll. 5-22. Gomez found this alleged admission significant because it indicates "sexually deviant or sexually unhealthy behavior." R. 110, l. 23 – 111, l. 1. Moreover, the

¹ See S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-30(2) (listing offenses defined as sexually violent offenses under the SVPA).

state's expert discussed Appellant's probation violation from 2009 and the allegations surrounding the basis for the revocation. R. 105, ll. 7-14.

Thereafter, Gomez opined that Appellant met "the diagnosis for a pedophilic disorder, non-exclusive type, sexually attracted to females." She testified, "Pedophilia is a disorder of sexual interests where the person is sexually attracted to children who have not yet gone through puberty." R. 128, l. 19 – 129, l. 3. She further described pedophilia as a mental abnormality relevant to a determination of whether a person is a sexually violent predator and opined that Appellant's "diagnosis of pedophilic disorder causes him difficulty in controlling his behavior." R. 129, l. 4 – 130, l. 17. Moreover, Gomez testified that she also diagnosed Appellant with zoophilia, which "is when the person has thoughts of sex with animals." She maintained this diagnosis was based on Appellant's "report of thoughts regarding animals and the behaviors he carried out." R. 130, l. 18 – 131, l. 13.

Lastly, Gomez opined Appellant has the propensity to commit future sexually violent offenses and that he has difficulty controlling his sexual behavior. She concluded he meets the legal criteria of a sexually violent predator.² R. 132, l. 1 – 133, l. 10.

Dr. Gomez rendered this opinion despite admitting that **Appellant scored a zero** on the Static-99R, which is a risk assessment instrument used by experts in the field. A score of zero indicates Appellant is in "the low risk group for sexually reoffending." R. 116, ll. 22-24. Individuals in this low risk group have a 7.2 percent rate of reoffending in the next five years and 12.5 percent rate of reoffending in the next ten years. R. 144, l. 16 – 145, l. 5.

² See S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-30(1) defining a sexually violent predator as a person who "has been convicted of a sexually violent offense" and "suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes the person likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care, and treatment."

Appellant called Dr. Kimberly Harrison, a court appointed expert, to testify. Dr. Harrison likewise opined that Appellant “meets the criteria for pedophilia, being sexually attracted to children.” R. 198, ll. 12-14. She also maintained that his admission to having sex with animals “would make him eligible for a diagnosis of zoophilia.” However, Harrison said she did not have that information when she completed her evaluation and thus “did not provide that diagnosis.” R. 199, ll. 3-12. She testified that it is “not unusual or surprising” that a person with one paraphilia, such as pedophilia, also has another paraphilia, “such as a sexual attraction or sexual behavior with animals.” Thus, Harrison concluded that this new information about Appellant’s admission to having sex with animals did not change her overall opinion. R. 199, ll. 13-23.

Like Dr. Gomez, Dr. Harrison conducted the Static-99R and concluded that Appellant had a score of zero, which placed him in the low risk group for sexually reoffending. R. 210, l. 24 – 212, l. 21. She explained, “[I]f you took a hundred sex offenders that had the same score as Mr. Chadwick [Appellant], about five of them reoffended over the course of five years. And about nine out of those one hundred reoffended within ten years.” R. 212, l. 21 – 213, l. 1.

Additionally, Dr. Harrison explained that one of the main risk factors used to determine an individual’s risk of reoffending is an antisocial orientation, “meaning does this person have a history of chronic rule breaking, different types of criminal offenses.” R. 202, ll. 4-15. She maintained that a person who has nonsexual criminal convictions tends to be irresponsible and impulsive. R. 202, ll. 15-22. Harrison noted there was nothing in Appellant’s history to “suggest that he has [an] antisocial orientation.” R. 203, ll. 3-13.

Lastly, Dr. Harrison opined that Appellant **does not** meet the criteria to be committed as a sexually violent predator and does not fall into the group of “extremely dangerous” sex offenders that the SVPA is designed to treat. R. 217, l. 8 – 218, l. 18.

Objection and Ruling

During the state’s opening statement, the assistant attorney general told the jury that Appellant admitted to having “sex with cows, twenty to twenty-five female dogs, and a goat.” Appellant’s counsel immediately objected and argued, “That is not part of this particular offense that he’s - - .” R. 49, ll. 17-23. The court interrupted counsel and instructed the assistant attorney general to “stay within the record as it’s going to be established.” At Appellant’s counsel’s request, the court instructed the jury that “opening statements are not argument and they’re not anything more than just an outline of what is to be produced. It’s not evidence or anything of that nature . . .” R. 49, l. 24 – 51, l. 3.

Once opening statements were over, Appellant’s counsel requested to make a motion outside the presence of the jury, and the jury was excused from the courtroom. Counsel argued that Appellant’s alleged admission to having sex with animals, which is conduct that he has never been charged with nor convicted of, is irrelevant and unduly prejudicial. R. 59, l. 12 – 61, l. 9. The assistant attorney general argued in return that the alleged admission was relied on by Dr. Gomez when she rendered her opinion and was thus relevant. R. 63, ll. 8-18. She explained further that Gomez diagnosed Appellant with zoophilia, which is a mental abnormality and considered deviant behavior. R. 63, l. 23 – 64, l. 2.

In reply, Appellant’s counsel argued, “We’re not here for the jury to go home and talk about well, maybe my guy [Appellant] did some bad things to animals. We’re here

about pedophilia. That's what he is diagnosed with." Counsel further argued, "And going into these other lurid allegations of sex with animals and that sort of stuff is candidly going to be highly prejudicial to this jury. I can't imagine that they wouldn't let that inflame their passions in some way." R. 65, l. 16 – 67, l. 3.

The court ultimately found that the evidence of Appellant's alleged admission of having sex with animals was admissible. The court cited to S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-30(2)(k), which indicates that "buggery, as provided in Section 16-15-120" is a sexually violent offense under the SVPA. The court explained that S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-120 reads, "Whoever shall commit the abominable crime of buggery, whether with mankind or **with beast**, shall on conviction be guilty of a felony and shall be imprisoned." (emphasis added). Thus, the court found that Appellant's alleged uncharged conduct of having sex with animals was relevant under the SVPA because it constituted a sexually violent offense. R. 96, ll. 6-12.

Moreover, Judge Macaulay noted that uncharged conduct and the underlying allegations related to uncharged conduct is admissible in SVP cases under In re Corley, 353 S.C. 202, 577 S.E.2d 451 (2003) and In re White, 375 S.C. 1, 649 S.E.2d 172 (Ct. App. 2007). Thus, the fact that Appellant's admission to having sex with animals was uncharged criminal conduct did not affect the admissibility of the evidence. R. 93, l. 22 – 94, l. 13. The court further found pursuant to White and Corley that the probative value of the evidence related to Appellant's admission exceeded any prejudicial effect to Appellant. R. 95, l. 25 – 96, l. 14.

Discussion

Generally, all relevant evidence is admissible. Rule 402, SCRE. “‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. However, even relevant evidence must “be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” Rule 403, SCRE. Thus, consideration of whether evidence is relevant and admissible requires consideration of the evidence’s probative value, the danger of unfair prejudice posed by the evidence, and a balancing of the two.

The starting point for analyzing evidence under Rule 403 is determining the probative value of the evidence offered. “‘Probative’ means ‘[t]ending to prove or disprove.’” State v. Gray, 408 S.C. 601, 609, 759 S.E.2d 160, 165 (Ct. App. 2014) (internal citation omitted) (alteration in original). According to this Court, “[p]robative value’ is the measure of the importance of that tendency to the outcome of a case.” Id. at 610, 759 S.E.2d at 165. The probative value of evidence is directly related to how important that evidence is in assisting the jury in rendering a verdict. Id. Thus, when analyzing the probative value of evidence, the court must consider the importance of the evidence as it relates to the issues presented in the case. State v. Lee, 399 S.C. 521, 528, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012).

After determining the probative value of the evidence, the court must next evaluate the danger of unfair prejudice presented by the evidence. “The determination of prejudice must be based on the entire record and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case.” State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 7, 545 S.E.2d 827, 830 (2001). “Unfair prejudice does

not mean the damage to a defendant's case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest [a] decision on an improper basis." State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998) (quoting United States v. Bonds, 12 F.3d 540, 567 (6th Cir. 1993)) (internal quotation marks omitted). "Rule 403 only requires suppression of evidence that results in unfair prejudice – prejudice that damages an opponent for reasons other than its probative value, for instance, an appeal to emotion." United States v. Mohr, 318 F.3d 613, 619-620 (4th Cir. 2003) (internal citation omitted).

Once a court has determined the probative value and the danger of unfair prejudice of the evidence, the court must balance the two. State v. Dial, 405 S.C. 247, 260, 746 S.E.2d 495, 502 (Ct. App. 2013). Only after balancing the probative value and the danger of unfair prejudice may the court determine if the danger of unfair prejudice outweighs the probative value of the proffered evidence as required by Rule 403.

Here, evidence that Appellant allegedly engaged in sexual acts with animals was not relevant to the determination of whether he met the criteria of a sexually violent predator under the SVPA. The focus of the trial was on Appellant's diagnosis as a pedophile and whether he posed a risk to minors if he was not committed to the Department of Mental Health. Not only was the evidence of his alleged admission to having sex with animals not relevant, it was also highly prejudicial and should have been excluded under Rule 403. The main effect of this evidence was to inflame the jury and likely caused the jury to reach a decision on an improper basis. The prejudicial evidence of Appellant's alleged admission likely tipped the scales in favor of a finding that Appellant was a sexually violent predator, especially in light of the evidence that