ORIGINAL
RECEIVED

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

DEC 02 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal From Anderson County
The Honorable Alexander S. Macaulay, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2014-002139

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND TREATMENT OF
DEWEY CHADWICK,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From Anderson County
The Honorable Alexander S. Macaulay, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2014-002139

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The circuit court properly allowed the State's expert to testify about Appellant's deviant sexual behavior with animals, because Appellant's sexually deviant urges and conduct was relevant to the expert's opinion regarding Appellant's risk to reoffend sexually if not confined for long term control, care and treatment.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent concurs with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Prior to Appellant Dewey Chadwick's release from prison on a 2013 criminal solicitation of a minor conviction, Respondent State of South Carolina ("the State") filed a Petition pursuant to the Sexually Violent Predator Act (the "SVPA"), seeking Appellant's civil commitment for long term control, care and treatment as a sexually violent predator. The matter was called for a jury trial on October 6, 2014, before the Honorable Alexander S. Macauley, Circuit Court Judge.

During opening statements, the State referenced testimony the jury would hear from the State's expert witness, including Appellant's admissions to the expert he molested children for which he was never charged, and had sex with animals. Appellant objected, and the State indicated the expert actually diagnosed another mental abnormality based on those admissions. The court instructed the State attorney to "stay with what you intend to prove -- what is it -- you would seek to have introduced." (Trial Transcript [TT], pp. 49-51; Record on Appeal [R.], pp. 49-51).

After opening statements, Appellant moved to exclude testimony regarding the details of Appellant's sexually violent convictions, as well as Appellant's admissions to the expert, on the grounds the evidence was irrelevant and unduly prejudicial. The State argued the details of Appellant's convictions and his admissions to the expert regarding additional victims and sex with animals was directly relevant to the expert's ultimate opinion regarding Appellant's risk to reoffend sexually. The court took the matter under advisement until the expert got to that part of her testimony. (TT, pp. 59-74; R., pp. 59-74).

The State then presented testimony from Ana Gomez, M.D., a board certified forensic psychiatrist, who was qualified as an expert in psychiatry and forensic psychiatry. The State retained Dr. Gomez to conduct an independent evaluation of Appellant after the court appointed evaluator did not recommend commitment. Dr. Gomez testified she evaluated Appellant using a protocol established by the Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abusers, and the Sexual Behaviors Clinic and Lab at the Medical University of South Carolina. (TT, pp. 74-83; R., pp. 74-83).

As part of the evaluation, Dr. Gomez reviewed records regarding Appellant's criminal history, interviewed Appellant for almost thirteen hours over four days, and conducted multiple tests, including psychological and physiological assessments. She indicated this was the type of information experts reasonably rely on for psychosexual evaluations. (TT, pp. 83-88; R., pp. 83-88).

Dr. Gomez testified Appellant was convicted of three lewd act on a minor charges and one criminal solicitation of a minor charge. She stated details of the offenses are important in rendering an opinion on a diagnosis and risk to reoffend. Appellant again objected to testimony regarding the specific facts of the convictions. (TT, pp. 88-91; R., pp. 88-91).

Appellant argued that even though he pled guilty to the charges, he did not "necessarily plead guilty to the actual allegations as set forth in the indictment," and allowing testimony regarding the underlying facts was unduly prejudicial. After reviewing applicable case law, the court overruled the objection, finding the probative value of testimony regarding the underlying facts of the offenses exceeded any prejudicial value. The court further found testimony regarding Appellant's admission of

sex with animals was admissible because buggery is a sexually violent offense under the SVPA, and the probative value outweighed the prejudicial effect. (TT, pp. 92-96; R., pp. 92-96).

Dr. Gomez testified Appellant pled guilty to one count of lewd act on a minor arising from an incident in 1986, which involved touching a nine year old female on her chest and genital areas and was witnessed by several people. Appellant told Dr. Gomez nothing happened and “he was set up.” (TT, p. 97, State’s Exhibit 1; R., pp. 97, 283-286).

In 2005, he pled guilty to two counts of lewd act on a minor arising from incidents in 2004 involving nine year old and seven year old sisters. He kissed the nine year old child on the mouth, unbuttoned her pants and rubbed her vagina. The child reported the conduct went on for a month, and Appellant threatened her if she told anyone. Appellant kissed the seven year old child on the mouth, and told her not to tell her mother. (TT, pp. 98-100, State’s Exhibit 2; R., pp. 98-100, 287-295).

Appellant told Dr. Gomez he did not touch the younger child, who said she was going to lie on him. He admitted sexually touching the older child one time, after thinking about doing it for several months, and for several months after he did it, but said the child “kept sitting on his lap and rubbing against him.” (TT, p. 100; R., p. 100).

In 2012, Appellant pled guilty to one count of criminal solicitation of a minor arising from an incident in 2011 (approximately four months after Appellant was released from prison on the lewd act convictions). Appellant called a thirteen year old female over to his car, offered her some cookies, gave her his phone number, and asked if he could touch her. At the time, he told the police he gave the child his phone number

because she asked for it. He told Dr. Gomez he gave his number to her so her grandmother could call him and he could tell on the child. He further stated the child came to him when she was ten years old and told him he could do anything to her he wanted, but he told her she was too young for him. (TT, pp. 102-104, State's Exhibit 3; R., pp. 102-104, 296-299).

Dr. Gomez testified it was significant Appellant reoffended so quickly after his release from prison on a sexual conviction, and after he participated in some sex offender treatment. She also found it significant that Appellant's probation was revoked in 2009 after he was seen talking to children, hugging them and offering them ice cream, which indicated continuing interest in children in the face of legal restrictions. (TT, pp. 104-108; R., pp. 104-108).

During the interview with Dr. Gomez, Appellant admitted committing sexual offenses against children for which he was never charged. The offenses started in the mid-1960s, when Appellant was approximately eighteen years old, and continued until the late 1980s. The youngest victim was five or six years old, and the oldest was fourteen or fifteen years old. The molestations included touching and attempted vaginal intercourse. Dr. Gomez testified this uncharged conduct was relevant for diagnostic purposes because it showed a longstanding pattern and Appellant's difficulty controlling his sexual behavior. (TT, pp. 108-110; R., pp. 108-110).

Appellant also told Dr. Gomez he had sexual activities with animals over a period of years, and had thoughts about the acts before doing them. She diagnosed him with zoophilia, and found this significant because it revealed additional sexually deviant thoughts and behavior. (TT, pp. 110-111, 130; R., pp. 110-111, 130).

Dr. Gomez testified Appellant minimized any sexual interests, but did state he had sexual thoughts of women and touching younger girls. She further stated Appellant participated in court ordered sex offender treatment between 2005 and 2008, but reoffended after completing the treatment, and during the interview, Appellant told her “he might have a little problem with sex offending.” (TT, pp. 111-113; R., pp. 111-113).

Dr. Gomez identified six different assessment tools she used in Appellant’s evaluation, all of which provided additional data points for her to consider in reaching a conclusion, but she stated none of the tools should be used alone. She testified about each tool individually, and related the results on each. She stated the results of each tool were considered in reaching her opinions regarding Appellant’s mental abnormalities and risk to reoffend sexually. (TT, pp. 113-128; R., pp. 113-128).

Based on all the data she collected, Dr. Gomez concluded Appellant has the mental abnormalities of pedophilia, non-exclusive type, sexually attracted to female children, and zoophilia. She opined to a reasonable degree of medical certainty Appellant’s mental abnormalities cause him serious difficulty in controlling his sexual behavior, and he is likely to commit future acts of sexual violence toward children if not confined for treatment. (TT, pp, 128-136; R., pp. 128-136).

Appellant presented Kimberly Harrison, PhD., as his expert witness. She was originally appointed by the circuit court as the evaluator in Appellant’s case, and was

qualified as an expert in forensic psychology without objection. She stated she had completed 130 evaluations under the SVPA.¹ (TT, pp. 175-185; R., pp. 175-185).

Dr. Harrison testified she had the same records Dr. Gomez had in evaluating Appellant, and interviewed him for an hour and forty minutes. She also concluded Appellant has the mental abnormality of pedophilia, non-exclusive type, attracted to minor females. (TT, pp. 185-201; R., pp. 185-201).

In her evaluation, Dr. Harrison only used one risk assessment tool, the Static-99R, which consists of ten questions the evaluator answers primarily based on information in the records, such as prior sexual offenses and non-sexual offenses, and has a score range of negative three to twelve. Based on Dr. Harrison's answers, Appellant scored two on the Static-99R, which is in the low risk of reoffending category. Premised primarily on the Static-99R score, Dr. Harrison opined Appellant did have the relevant mental abnormality of pedophilia, but was not a risk to reoffend, so she did not recommend commitment. (TT, pp. 202-238; R., pp. 202-238).

In closing arguments, the State told the jury the zoophilia diagnosis was not presented "for the ick factor to kind of gross out a jury," but because "it shows a whole other level of sexual deviance or unhealthy sexual thinking," and gives the jury "an idea of what goes on inside [Appellant's] head and what are his thoughts and what his feelings are about sex." The State did not refer to the diagnosis or Appellant's admission regarding sex with animals again, and focused on the pedophilia diagnosis and Appellant's offense history involving children. The State further asked the jury to look

¹She admitted the vast majority of those evaluations were annual reviews by

at the entirety of the case, and to consider the thoroughness of the evaluations Dr. Gomez and Dr. Harrison conducted. (TT, pp. 244-252; R., pp. 244-252).

The jury found Appellant is a sexually violent predator beyond a reasonable doubt, and he was committed to the South Carolina Department of Mental Health for long term control, care and treatment. (TT, pp. 275-276, 281-282, Order of Commitment filed October 7, 2014; R., pp. 275-276, 281-282, 370). This appeal followed.

people already committed as sexual predators. (TT, pp. 222-223; R., pp. 222-223).

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly allowed the State's expert to testify about Appellant's deviant sexual behavior with animals, because Appellant's sexually deviant urges and conduct was relevant to the expert's opinion regarding Appellant's risk to reoffend sexually if not confined for long term control, care and treatment.

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in allowing the State's expert to testify about Appellant's deviant sexual behavior with animals.² He asserts the testimony was irrelevant to the issue of whether he posed a risk to minors if not confined for treatment, and was highly prejudicial

“‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. As a general rule, all relevant evidence is admissible unless the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighs the evidence's probative value. Rule 402, SCRE; Rule 403, SCRE.

The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court, and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice, which occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490, 495 (2013); In re The Care and Treatment of John Phillip Corley, 353 S.C. 202, 577 S.E.2d 451, 453 (2003) (same). The appellate court also reviews a trial court's decision regarding the comparative

probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence under Rule 403 for abuse of discretion, and should only reverse that decision in exceptional circumstances. State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014); *see also* State v. Williams, 409 S.C. 455, 761 S.E.2d 770, 775 (Ct. App. 2014)(“If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal.”) (*quoting* State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 665 S.E.2d 201, 207 [Ct. App. 2008]). In reviewing the trial court’s decision, the appellate court must give great deference to the trial court’s judgment, and should not invade the trial court’s discretion when the evidence is highly probative, corroborative, and material in establishing the elements of a party’s case. Collins, 763 S.E.2d at 27-28.

Evidence merely damaging to “a defendant’s case is not a basis for excluding probative evidence” under Rule 403, because “[e]vidence that is highly probative invariably will be prejudicial to the defense.” United States v. Udeozor, 515 F.3d 260, 264-65 (4th Cir. 2008). “Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant’s case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest decision on an improper basis.” State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998) (quoting United States v. Bonds, 12 F.3d 540, 567 (6th Cir.1993)); *see also* State v. Dickerson, 341 S.C. 391, 535 S.E.2d 119, 123 (2000); United States v. Mohr, 318 F.3d 613, 618 (4th Cir. 2003) (exclusion is appropriate when the trial judge believes the risk of exciting the jury to irrational behavior is disproportionate to the probative value of the offered evidence).

²Appellant does not challenge on appeal the admission of testimony regarding the

In this case, the State had the burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt Appellant had a mental abnormality or personality disorder, which made him likely to reoffend sexually if not confined for treatment. Any sexually deviant urges and behavior was directly relevant to determining both an appropriate diagnosis and the risk to reoffend. *See Care and Treatment of James P. Ettel*, 377 S.C. 558, 660 S.E.2d 285, 288 (Ct. App. 2008) (expert's testimony regarding person's prior uncharged sexual offenses and a murder conviction was admissible because the expert used the information to develop her opinion regarding the person's diagnosis and ability to control his behavior). The relevance is heightened when the person has multiple sexual disorders, and has acted on them in the past.

Dr. Gomez testified she considered Appellant's zoophilia in reaching her ultimate conclusions regarding his risk to reoffend. Significantly, however, she also testified about a multitude of other facts she considered, including; 1) Appellant committed numerous offenses against children over a substantial period of time; 2) he failed to stay away from children even as a condition of probation; 3) he minimized any current sexual interest, but admitted having continuing thoughts about touching young girls; 4) he changed his stories about his offenses several times; 5) he believed the victims were coming on to him; 6) he reoffended within months of being released from prison on a sexual offense; 7) he reoffended after receiving sex offender treatment; 8) he had a history of substance abuse, which tends to lower inhibitions; 9) he did not have a realistic plan to prevent reoffending if he was released; and 10) he told Dr. Gomez he "might have

prior uncharged sex offenses against children he confessed to Dr. Gomez.

a little problem with sex offending.” (TT, pp. 97-136; R., pp. 97-136). In light of all the factors Dr. Gomez considered, the testimony regarding Appellant’s zoophilia was not unduly prejudicial. *See Ettel*, 660 S.E.2d at 288 (prior uncharged sex offenses and murder conviction were not the only basis for the expert’s diagnosis and opinion).

Appellant argues “[t]he main effect of [the zoophilia] evidence was to inflame the jury and likely caused the jury to reach a decision on an improper basis.” (Brief of Appellant, p.11). Overlooking the rank speculation of Appellant’s conclusory argument, there is simply nothing in the record to support it. The only disputed issue in this case was Appellant’s risk to reoffend if not confined for treatment, and the jury heard testimony from two experts who agreed Appellant has the mental abnormality of pedophilia, but disagreed on his risk to reoffend. Given the thoroughness of Dr. Gomez’s evaluation compared to Dr. Harrison’s cursory evaluation, it is far more likely the jury found Dr. Gomez, and her evaluation, much more credible.

The circuit court specifically found the probative value of the zoophilia testimony outweighed any prejudicial effect, and properly allowed the testimony.³ The record supports the court’s finding, and it should be affirmed.

³The court based its ruling in part on its finding buggery was a sexually violent act as defined in the SVPA. Regardless of whether the conduct falls within the SVPA definitions, the State submits the evidence was relevant and admissible because Dr. Gomez relied on it in reaching her opinion.